




































Staff Report 3_Environmental Scan Part I 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Report on Mount Prospect School District 57  

Financial and Facilities Outlook 

 

 

 

 

January 19, 2017 

  



2 | P a g e  

 

Introduction 

 

District 57 has had a rich history of excellence, providing students with a strong 

education and preparing them to succeed at Prospect High School. However, the financial 

landscape of the State is challenging and ultimately the General Assembly will need to pass 

legislation to address the many issues faced by the State.  Currently, there is little movement 

toward a resolution but, many areas are on the table to be addressed. In the next year we may see 

a number of changes that will adversely affect our District primarily at the State level but also at 

the Federal level. Below are some of the areas that could change.  

 

 All indications from the State Legislature are that we will receive less financial 

support through a new school funding bill.  

 There is much conversation that the State will shift some of its pension obligations to 

the local districts, and we will be mandated to pay for them. This shift will likely 

occur on a phased in schedule. 

 Pending legislation from the Governor’s “Turnabout Agenda” threatens to reduce our 

capacity to generate local revenue to fund budgets specifically through a property tax 

freeze. 

 Standard operating costs will continue to rise.  

 There will continue to be increased costs and requirements associated with the 

implementation of Affordable Care Act (ACA); e.g. the Cadillac Tax. Adjustments to 

ACA may become clearer now that we are past the presidential election. 

 

This landscape creates a sense of urgency for us to respond to these risks as well as 

consider our own financial position as we seek to remain solvent for the future. Given this 

context we have provided this comprehensive study for the Board of Education. The study offers 

a clear vision of the programs and initiatives we need to offer to meet our changing educational 

and facility needs. Further, it identifies the resources to achieve them and, most importantly, 

sustain them.   

 

This paper will provide a clear context within which we must operate as a District. The 

purpose of this comprehensive study is to provide the Board of Education with key information 

to guide our future decision-making and a strategy to move forward. 

 

This study includes several parts so as to give the Board of Education a comprehensive 

view of what steps the District has taken to be fiscally responsible as well as to present the 

current realities that the District must address with respect to enrollment, facilities, and finances. 

Key areas addressed in the paper include the following:  

 

1. Financial Landscape 

2. Enrollment History and Projections 

3. Facility Improvements 

4. Staff and Program Reductions Over the Past Eight Years 

5. Future Initiatives for District 57 

6. Referendum Considerations 

7. Planning for the Future: Three Options to Consider 



3 | P a g e  

 

8. Summary and Next Steps 

 

Section I: Financial Landscape 

 

State Financial Landscape  

 

Over the past decade the economic landscape of our State has deteriorated. The lack of 

resolve by our State leaders in Springfield to make long-term productive decisions has created 

great uncertainty for supporting school districts. Many of the conversations have centered on 

creating a more equitable funding model for schools (General State Aid GSA), shifting State 

pension obligations to local school districts, restructuring the Pension Systems, generating 

revenue sources, and implementing aspects of the Governor’s “Turnabout Agenda” as previously 

mentioned. One of the key pieces of the Governor’s agenda is a property tax freeze. Originally, it 

was proposed to be only two years, but this conversation has evolved into the possibility of a tax 

freeze being permanent.  

 

We are all familiar with these conversations and one thing seems to be inevitable. It is 

highly likely that districts in our area of the state will not see any new revenue from State 

sources; rather, it is probable we will lose revenue. In addition, it is looking more probable that 

the State will shift the cost of its pension obligations to the local districts with no recovery 

provisions afforded.  In other words, we will not be able to levy for these additional costs.  How 

much damage this action creates may be a function of its implementation timeline.  As a result, 

these factors will most certainly diminish our District’s capacity to maintain the quality of 

programs and services we have grown to expect in our schools requiring the Board to explore 

other revenue options.   

 

Of most concern to us is that there seems to be little action to resolve the State’s financial 

crisis. The General Assembly continues to talk about the school funding concerns but cannot 

seem to come to consensus on a bill that it could approve and the Governor would sign.  This 

summer the Governor created a bi-partisan committee to study the evidence-based funding 

model. This Committee is being led by Secretary of Education, Elizabeth Purvis. Our hope is that 

eventually the leaders will work out some compromise to end this impasse. 

 

Local Financial Landscape 

 

Locally, we really have two significant dynamics that are deteriorating our position.  

First, and most significant, is that we have been operating with a deficit spending budget for the 

past two years. Equally important to note is that we have been deficit spending in the Education 

Fund for more than a decade. The District needed to take this approach to meet our basic needs 

and growing enrollment. As we have discussed in our financial review sessions, we will dip 

below the Board’s reserve target of 40% by the end of the 2017 – 18 school year if we do not 

find additional revenue to fund our budget.  Below we have provided an overview of our Fund 

Balances, Revenues, and Operating Expenditures. 

 



4 | P a g e  

 

Fund Balances 

 

Over the past decade, the District fund balances have gone from 77% according to the 

FY06 audit to 44% following the FY16 audit. The Board of Education adopted language in 

Policy 4:20 that states the district will maintain fund balances in the range of 30 – 50% with a 

target of 40% by the end of the fiscal year, ending June 30th. To this point in time, we have been 

operating according to policy. The most recent financial projections indicate that the District will 

fall below the 30 – 50% range at the end of FY19. The reason for the steady decline in the fund 

balances is due to the ongoing implementation of a structured deficit budget, as mentioned. 

Despite the cost containment measures that have been implemented as delineated below, ongoing 

operating expenses continue to increase. Figure 1 below shows the District’s fund balance 

projections. 

 

Figure 1: FUND BALANCE PROJECTION 

 
 

Revenues  

 

As we know, a majority of the District’s revenue (76.3%) comes for local property taxes. 

As a means of generating revenue, the Board of Education also assesses service fees. Every 

district addresses fees in its own way. Some districts do not charge fees, while others have 

numerous fees and they are high. In comparison to our neighboring districts, we tend to be on the 

high end of the continuum. We collect approximately $1.527 million in student fees annually 

which accounts for approximately 6.5% of our annual budget revenue. Hence, property tax 

revenue and fees comprise 83% of our total budget. 

 

$15,020,269 $15,370,535 $15,600,718 

$14,427,144 

$11,428,699 $11,465,015 

$8,948,821 

$5,785,721 

$2,278,905 

$(1,646,575)

$(5,931,339)

6,598,772.10 6,986,577 7,329,362 7,562,113 7,706,986.20 7,635,758 
8,248,486 8,201,353 8,427,396 8,661,404 8,885,644 

FY 2012 FY 2013 FY 2014 FY 2015 FY 2016 FY 2017 FY 2018 FY 2019 FY 2020 FY 2021 FY 2022

 $(15)

 $(10)

 $(5)

 $-

 $5

 $10

 $15

 $20

 10 Educational  20 Operations &
Maintenance

 30 Debt Services  40 Transportation  50 Municipal
Retirement/Social Security

 60 Capital Projects  70 Working Cash

M
ill
io
n
s

Projected Year-End Balances

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 FY End Balances % of Expenses



5 | P a g e  

 

Figure 2 shows our distribution of revenue by area. 

 

Figure 2: 2017 BUDGETED REVENUE  

 
 

There are a number of factors that affect our revenue stream. These factors have been 

present for some time and we do not see them improving in the near future. These factors 

include:  

 Residents and businesses continue to file tax objections reducing our revenue,  

 Interest rates remain very low. As a result, we do not earn much on our 

investments, and 

 Delayed and diminished revenue sources from the State adversely impact our 

budget. (Mandated Categoricals i.e., special education) Often times the amounts 

appropriated are reduced and in recent years have been delayed, causing us to use 

our own funds to compensate until we receive them. 

 

Operating Expenditures  

 

Operating expenses increase each year, with salaries, medical costs, supplies, 

outsourced services, and the like.  The amount that we are permitted to levy under the 

Property Tax Extension Limitation Law (PTELL) limits our ability to levy more than the 

CPI and new growth and development.  This limit does not bring in sufficient funds to 

cover the costs of our increases.  For example, in our most recent levy cycle we were 

only able to levy the CPI for 2015 which was .7% plus approximately $23 million 

including the TIF retirement for new growth and development. This levy will fund a large 

portion the 2017 – 18 budget.   

Property Taxes
76%

Other Local 
Revenue

12%

General State Aid
4%

Other State 
Revenue

4%
Federal Revenue

4%
Flow-Through 

Revenue
0%

2017 Budgeted Revenue Allocation by Source



6 | P a g e  

 

 

Our largest expense is personnel and we have very reasonable Agreements with our 

certified and educational support staff Associations. Our staff are compensated fairly but still 

remain among the lowest in our North Cook Region.  In other words, we are not over paying our 

staff for the great work they do. Figure 3 shows our breakdown by fund and the costs assigned to 

personnel. 

 

Figure 3: OPERATING COST CHART 

 
 

Looking deeper into salaries, the following table (Figure 4) compares teacher average 

salary with class size and administrator average salary with per pupil ratios. The districts used for 

comparison are our neighboring districts that are typically identified for these purposes. In 

examining the data, District 57 teachers are definitely the lowest paid compared to our neighbors 

and even below the State average while at the same time have the highest class size. District 57 

administrator salaries fair better in the comparison; however, it results from a significantly higher 

administrator to pupil ratio, meaning District 57 does not have an abundance of lower tiered 

administrators which greatly affects the average salary calculation. 

  

Salaries
59%

Benefits
15%

Purchased Services
10%

Supplies And 
Materials

5%

Capital Outlay
4%

Other Objects
5%

Non-Capitalized 
Equipment

2%

Termination Benefits
0%

Provision for 
Contingencies

0%

2017 Budgeted Expenditure Allocation by Object



7 | P a g e  

 

 

Figure 4: Average Salary and Class Size Comparison** 
 Avg Teacher Salary Avg Class Size Avg Admin Salary Admin:Pupil Ratio 

Arlington Hts. D25 $72,962 20 $103,706 160:1 

Prospect Hts. D23 $65,041 17 $115,103 158:1 

River Trails D26 $74,029 19 $126,782 147:1 

Mount Prospect D57 $57,996 26 $123,018 229:1 

Des Plaines D62 $71,021 24 $118,556 162:1 

Comm. Cons. D59 $79,898 20 $121,370 147:1 

State $63,450 21 $103,634 177:1 
**Data reported on the 2015 IL School Report Card 

 

As mentioned above, the District has engaged in significant cost containment in which 

we have made significant personnel reductions and raised the class size to its limit.  We will 

continue to seek other operating efficiencies, but the financial forecast indicates that these 

measures will only marginally help us. Eventually, we will need to consider a referendum. 

 

Village of Mount Prospect TIF 

 

Another matter concerning District 57 is the Village of Mount Prospect’s move toward 

creating a new Tax Increment Finance (TIF) district. District 57 is looking for ways to use funds 

from the TIF to benefit the schools. The Village has expanded the TIF boundaries to include 

Lions Park School, which means TIF dollars could be used for improvements there. The new TIF 

encompasses the Northwest Highway corridor from Mount Prospect Road west to Central Road. 

This would freeze the revenue that the District would receive from properties inside the TIF for 

the next 23 years.  

 

Both the State and local financial landscapes pose challenges for the District. As we plan 

for the future, we need to respond in such a way as to preserve those essential and highly valued 

programs and services that we currently offer. At the same time, we want to provide the 

innovations emerging in our profession that will create learning experiences for the next 

generation of students. However, the challenges to fund and operate them are great. 

 

Section II: Enrollment History and Projections 

 

Each year, we update our enrollment projections using the most current data and trends. 

In this way we can make the most accurate projections over a five-year period.  

The district’s enrollment has been stable with a modest increase over the past decade. 

Enrollment in 2007 – 08 was 2,019. It gradually, but steadily, rose to 2,190 in 2016 – 17. The 

five-year projection analysis shows a steady increase to 2,341 in 2021 – 22. The increase in 

enrollment will require us to hire additional teachers. Figure 5 below provides our enrollment 

projections through the 2021 – 22 school year.  In this projection model we anticipate increasing 

enrollment by 151 students from our current enrollment. This increase could require us to hire as 

many as 6.0 FTE (regular teacher and specials). 

 



8 | P a g e  

 

Figure 5: FIVE-YEAR ENROLLMENT PROJECTIONS 

Section III: Facility Improvements 

 

The most significant expense incurred due to facilities over the past decade has been the 

re-opening and subsequent reconfiguration of Westbrook School to be a PreK – Grade 1 center.  

This was accomplished in three phases (re-opening the school in 2006 as a PreK/K, 

reconfiguring the school to a PreK/1 in 2010, and parking lot improvements 2015). Re-opening 

Westbrook was an absolute necessity as enrollment at Lions Park and Fairview exceeded 

capacity. The most cost effective way to address the overcrowding was to create a grade level 

center to house PreK – Grade 1.  

 

Total cost of the three phases of renovations (re-opening to Pre-K/K, addition of Grade 1, 

and parking lot expansion) has been approximately $8 million. While the District incurred the 

cost of renovations initially out of the fund balances, the Board of Education recaptured the 

money through the use of the debt service extension base (DSEB) thus having limited overall 

impact on the fund balances. At this time, the District has exhausted its DSEB. 

 

As a matter of course, the District budgets $750,000 annually for summer facilities 

projects and maintenance. The District Master Facility Plan (MFP) outlines the priority of 

facility improvements and guides the determination of which projects to address and when. Over 

the next five years, major facilities projects should include installation of sprinkling systems and 



9 | P a g e  

 

parking lot work at Fairview and Lions Park. In addition, the Ten Year Safety Survey was 

conducted in October 2016 where priority A/B items were identified. These items will be 

addressed in the next five years.  

 

In regards to facilities it is important to note that Administration is making the 

recommendation to construct two mobile classrooms at Westbrook for the 2017 – 18 school year 

as a means to address the kindergarten enrollment spike in 2016 – 17. We will be monitoring the 

kindergarten enrollment closely when registration begins in January 2017 in order to determine if 

the spike experienced this year was an anomaly or the beginning of a significant enrollment 

trend. 

 

Section IV: Staff and Program Reductions Over the Past Eight Years 

 

Staffing – Reduction of Certified and Educational Support Staff 

 

Certified Staff Reduction  

 

In the spring of 2011, the District implemented a reduction in force (RIF) of 24 FTE 

certified staff positions. These reductions included: 

 20 elementary classroom teachers (K – 5)  

 One music teacher  

 One art teacher, and  

 Two LRC directors 

 

It is significant to point out that these reductions resulted in larger class sizes. Originally our 

guidelines for K – 2 were 20 – 23 and Grade 3 – 5 were 22 – 25. Following the RIF, all 

elementary grade levels had class sizes ranging from 23 – 30. (As mentioned, when our 

enrollment increases we open additional sections and hire teachers but at this heightened class 

size.) 

 

There is a continued emphasis to try to keep the K – 2 classrooms limited to 25 students, 

but in cases where it has exceeded 25, instructional aides have been added to provide teachers 

with assistance. However, when an instructional assistant is added, the person is assigned to 

assist in two classroom sections not just one.   

 

Despite this reduction in force of certified staff and our increase in class sizes,  the 

enrollment growth has resulted in an increase in the number of K – 5 sections. The sections have 

grown from 49 in 2011 – 12 to 58 total sections in 2016 – 17. With each full-time certified staff 

member we add costs us approximately $58,000 in salary and benefits, and these expenditures 

must be sustained over time.  

 

The class sizes in grades 6 – 8 are typical for middle school and vary widely in range. 

However, we consistently exceed 25 students per class and sometimes eclipse 30 students in 

some classes.  The MPEA Collective Bargaining Agreement (CBA) provides a stipend for large 

class sizes. Five-year enrollment projections, as previous presented, forecast Lincoln will be at 



10 | P a g e  

 

highly elevated enrollments. The building was designed to house approximately 700 students. 

Enrollment is currently 723 with projections to exceed 800. 

 

ESP Staff Reduction 

 

The reduction of Educational Support Personnel (ESP) primarily focused on four groups:  

1. Nine Kid’s Corner personnel  

2. One administrative clerical position 

3. Two custodial positions, and 

4. One sub caller 

 

It bears noting that with instructional assistant positions we try to only staff assistants to provide 

support for special education students as specified in IEP’s. However, we have temporarily 

added instructional assistants in the cases of large K – 3 class sizes as explained above. In 

addition, we annually use Title I grant dollars to provide assistants for English Learners (EL) and 

literacy support.  

 

Programs Reductions 

 

It has been very important to the District to maintain its high level of programming for 

student success. We maintain a five-year curriculum cycle and update it annually for the Board 

of Education. During the past decade, new or updated curricula have been implemented in all of 

the core and specials areas as required by the Illinois State Board of Education (ISBE) with the 

Common Core State Standards (CCSS) and the Next Generation Science Standards (NGSS). 

Moreover, we have implemented new curricula to address emerging technology and engineering 

(e.g., Gateway to Technology GTT) along with social studies.  The average cost for 

implementing new or updated curricula ranges from $200,000 to $220,000 per subject area 

discipline.  In addition to the cost of materials, there are costs of providing the professional 

development to staff which would include substitute teacher pay for days teachers are pulled 

from their classrooms to participate in professional development.  

 

While we have held our commitment to the core learning subjects for every child, some 

programs and services were affected. You will recall that starting with the 2011-12 school year, 

we undertook many cost saving measures which included the following:  

 Eliminating 4th grade band and orchestra 

 Re-sectioning teams at Lincoln 

 Restructuring gifted education 

 Reducing Kindergarten art, music, and physical education sections per week 

 Restructuring LRC programming at the elementary schools  

 Eliminating numerous curriculum field trips 

 Eliminating Summer Quest 

 Eliminating transportation options for Preschool 

 Eliminating outdoor education at Lincoln, and 

 Eliminating the Lincoln activity bus 

 



11 | P a g e  

 

In the future, we would like to reinstate some of these programs should our financial position 

permit it. 

 

Section V: Future Initiatives for District 57 

 

Current Programming Priorities 

 

Core Curriculum 

 

It will be important to maintain all of our current core areas of instruction. The core areas 

include reading, English language arts (ELA), mathematics, science, social studies, and physical 

education/health. In Grades 1 – 5, instructional minutes for reading, ELA, and mathematics are 

comparable with neighboring districts and exceed the State average. This statement is also true 

for ELA in the middle school. However, District 57 middle school mathematics instructional 

minutes are below the State average. To address this deficiency, the middle school schedule is 

going to be adjusted to allow for increase in mathematics minutes beginning in 2017 – 2018. 

This scheduling adjustment will cost the District an additional 4.0 FTE certified staff 

(approximately $232,000 annually). 

 

Supportive Services 

 

In addition to our core curriculum, the District offers supportive services that are vital to 

our students’ success. These services are special education, English language (EL) support, and 

literacy and mathematics support. These services are highly valued and, in the case of special 

education and EL, mandated by law. 

 

Non-core Curriculum 

 

Non-core curriculum or “specials” include art, music, foreign language, computer 

integration, and GTT. Although these curricula are not mandated in Illinois School Code, they 

are highly valued in District 57 and currently rank among our top priorities.  Moreover, they 

provide a rich, well-rounded curriculum that meets the needs of the “whole child.” 

 

Future Programming and Staffing Priorities  

 

There are a number of areas where we are seeing a greater need to provide programs and 

services which would require additional personnel and resources. These positions would be 

considered highly valued in our staffing structure. Many districts around the nation and in our 

region are moving in these directions primarily because the needs of schooling in our society are 

changing. Thus, these programs and services are becoming more vital to better meet the 

educational and social needs of the children we serve.  

 

We have provided a brief description of the need and the direction we would take should 

the District be in a financial position to implement and sustain them; and should the Board want 

to consider them. 

  



12 | P a g e  

 

Full-day Kindergarten 

 

The topic of full-day kindergarten (FDK) is one of varying opinions throughout the 

country and the research findings are mixed. The research on the educational benefits from full-

day kindergarten is mixed. Currently, the research shows two conclusions.  

 

1. First, there is clearly benefit from full-day kindergarten programs for “at-risk” 

children. This is attributed to the fact that these children do not have the benefit of 

sound educational preparation at home or early learning experiences through 

preschool. Fortunately, this is not an issue in District 57, as our children come to 

school well-prepared to learn.  

2. Second, research that initially shows benefit for children in full-day programs is 

negated by the time the children reach Grade 3. I would hasten to say, though, that the 

issues examined in these research studies are almost exclusively with populations of 

students unlike ours; so the findings may or may not apply.  

 

We are finding that more districts are moving to this structure for kindergarten, 

nationally. Even in our region there is an increase in the number of districts offering full-day 

kindergarten. The movement toward a full-day program is naturally putting pressure on those 

districts, like District 57, that are electing to maintain half-day programs.  

 

Despite the research findings on full-day kindergarten, districts like ours have a very real, 

but different question that we must face. District 57 needs to ask the question “Do we have 

sufficient time to cover all the curricular expectations (including the Common Core State 

Standards, Next Generation Science Standards, etc.) and provide sufficient social/emotional 

experiences and play for the students in a half-day program?” Many school districts have 

determined that is not possible and have moved to a full-day program.  I would concur that in a 

perfect world I would prefer to see the District offer a full-day program as I believe it would 

offer more opportunity for our students to have the time to experience all these programs. The 

challenge for District 57 to implement full-day kindergarten, however, is that we do not currently 

have the classroom space to offer an FDK, and there would be a cost to staff this program. 

 

If the Board of Education decided in the future to offer a full-day kindergarten program, 

the additional costs would have to be factored into the budget.  We would need to hire five 

additional FTE classroom teachers and some special area teachers to provide art, music, and PE 

(partial FTEs only). These staff would cost approximately $400,000 annually. In addition, we 

would need to build five new classrooms on to Westbrook along with possibly another art and/or 

music room. Finally, we would have to build a new gym as the current gym would need to be a 

multi-purpose room to accommodate double the lunch period. These construction costs would be 

approximately $6 million.  

 

Physical Education Five Days Per Week 

 

The State requires physical education (PE) to be taught five days a week. Currently in 

Grades 1 – 5, we offer PE with licensed PE teachers three times per week and KDG twice per 

week. We offer structured physical activity the remaining two days per week by the classroom 



13 | P a g e  

 

teacher. This structure does fulfill the State mandate. However, a number of districts around the 

nation and in our region offer five days per week of physical education with a licensed teacher.  

 

It would be a positive step if we could offer PE daily five times each week given the need 

for regular physical activity and instruction. It is consistent with a healthy lifestyle and supported 

by research. It would also be more consistent with the State mandate. However, to implement 

this change would require both an increase in staff of 3.0 FTE licensed staff (approximately 

$174,000 annually) and additional gym space in each of the three elementary schools, Fairview, 

Lions Park, and Westbrook (approximately $1.8 million per gym). 

 

Staffing Initiatives 

 

Early Childhood Coordinator 

 

Reporting requirements and management of early childhood programming have risen to 

the point that it warrants its own administrative oversight. Up to this point the duties were carried 

out by a WB teacher who received a stipend. However, the magnitude of responsibilities has 

exceeded the expectations of a typical teacher stipend. Administration is recommending that 

these duties be part of the job description of an assistant principal for WB school. This position 

was included in the base assumptions for the Fall 2016 financial projections. 

 

English Learner Coordinator 

 

The English Language Learner (ELL) population is growing all over our region. We have 

seen an increase over the past five years in EL students.  In 2012 – 13 our ELL population in the 

District was 33.  Today we serve 153 students.  

 

Moreover, just as is the situation regarding early childhood programming, reporting 

requirements and management of the EL program have grown to a similar point requiring 

specific administrative licensure. Administration is recommending that these duties be part of the 

job description of an assistant principal at either Lions Park for Fairview. 

 

Literacy Coordinator 

 

Supplementary literacy support service is another area that could benefit from an 

individual who could specialize in program oversight. These duties would be fulfilled by another 

elementary school assistant principal. 

 

Assistant Principals for Elementary Schools 

 

Enrollment increases and additional teacher evaluation requirements under PERA have 

created a need for additional administrative support in our elementary schools. A single 

administrator in each of our elementary schools simply cannot meet the demands of teacher 

evaluation and student supervision. In the North Cook Region alone, 53% of the districts employ 

elementary school Assistant Principals for the reasons cited. Salary for an elementary assistant 

principal would be approximately $77,000.  



14 | P a g e  

 

Facilities Initiatives 

 

As we look to the future there are a number of facilities improvements that we will need 

to make to simply maintain our buildings and to be in compliance with School Code.  These 

improvements would be identified from three sources: 

 

1. Results and Recommendations of the Ten-Year Safety Plan – These would be items 

that are identified as Required and Recommended. 

2. Long-term Capital Improvements – There would also be ongoing maintenance and 

improvement that would come from our Master Facility Plan. These items would be 

important as they identified through their system and typical lifespan. We would plan 

improvements and schedule their work accordingly. The funds for these 

improvements typically come out of the capital improvement budget we build in the 

annual budget. 

3. Preventive Maintenance Program – The lifespan of our current HVAC, roofs, boilers, 

and other systems are directly correlated to the preventive maintenance that we 

conduct on them. To the extent that we can have a strong preventive maintenance 

program, we will be able to maintain systems and facilities well. Obviously, the 

lifespan of many systems is a function of ongoing care and maintenance of them.  

 

Proposals for Future Facility Initiatives 

 

Proposals for future facility initiatives will be determined by two fundamental sources.  

First, we must address our current realities of growing enrollment and the age of Lincoln Middle 

School.  Our enrollment projections have been incredibly helpful to see what our future needs 

will be. In addition, Lincoln Middle School is at the place where we must consider if it is prudent 

to build a new middle school – See options below. If the Board pursues some of the above 

suggestions, we would need to ensure we have the space to operate and sustain them over the 

next 15 – 20 years.  

 

Below we have outlined three options for future direction that include both funding and 

facility improvements.  However, with respect to facility improvements, the following ideas will 

be conceptualized in broad terms. 

 

1. If the District were to pursue a full-day kindergarten, we would need to add 

classrooms and gym to Westbrook 

2. To address our increasing enrollment for the short-term we do need to add mobile 

classrooms at Westbrook next year and possibly to Fairview the year after. However, 

in the long-term we will need to consider additional classroom space that would come 

in one of two likely forms: 

a. add classrooms and gym to Fairview and Lions Park 

b. build a new Lincoln Middle School that houses grades 5-8 with no additional 

work done to Fairview and Lions Park 

3. With the aging of Lincoln, we will likely need to consider building a new Lincoln 

Middle School just for grades 6 – 8 or move to a grades 5 – 8 configuration as noted 



15 | P a g e  

 

above; OR we would need to consider a significant renovation of Lincoln, the cost of 

which would be likely comparable to new construction. 

 

We will delineate these possibilities further in the Options below. 

 

Section VI: Referenda Considerations 

 

To this point, we have reviewed the current and potential financial landscape of the State 

and the District. We have also discussed possible staffing, programmatic, and facility options if 

we want to maintain current programs and services in light of our financial landscape. Finally, 

we have offered some possible future innovations and jobs that would place the District in a 

strong position to meet students’ needs as the education arena evolves. 

 

What is clear from these analyses is that it seems inevitable that the District will need to 

consider seeking a referendum if we want to maintain the current programs and services that are 

offered.  If the Board wanted to explore any new innovations, these would have to be considered 

as part of the referendum.   

 

We will no longer be able to have confidence that the limited revenue we receive from 

the State or federal government will continue at current levels. Also future property tax revenue 

may be curtailed with a property tax freeze, and we may actually have additional obligations to 

shoulder if the General Assembly shifts costs to local school districts.  Therefore, it will be a 

priority for us to look for ways to enhance our current revenue sources through a property tax 

increase.  In short, whatever District 57 offers in the future must be affordable and be balanced 

against maintaining our fiscal solvency. We want to present a clear vision of what our future 

holds over the next five years and make a recommendation to ensure the District’s financial 

solvency for years to come. 

 

In this section we will address a number of factors regarding consideration of a 

referendum. Specifically, we will explore the following: 

 

1. Provide a brief history of the District’s experience with referenda over the past two 

decades  

2. Explore several factors that would need to be considered for the Board to determine 

the direction it would like to take pertaining to a referendum; and  

3. Offer a strategy to address a referendum. 

 

History of District 57 Referenda 

 

The District has pursued two types of referenda over the past two decades. The first were 

capital improvement bonds to build both Fairview and Lions Park. In 1994 the community 

passed a building referendum ($13.5M) from which Fairview and Lions Park were constructed.  

In 2004 the community was asked to approve another building referendum to make 

improvements at Lincoln and Westbrook ($8.9M). It did not pass.  No other building referenda 

have been explored since that time. 

 



16 | P a g e  

 

The second type of referendum is an Educational Fund rate increase. The purpose of this 

type of increase is to provide a higher level of local property tax support to fund our salaries, 

programs and services.  The District attempted to pass an Educational Fund increase in 2000, 

2001, 2003, and 2004. Each time the referendum failed. The 2003 referendum failed by a very 

narrow margin of 42 votes.  (The last successful Educational Fund tax rate increases occurred in 

1968 and 1988.) It is important to try to understand why the failed referenda did not pass so as to 

better understand how to set the narrative for a future attempt. There was no official post mortem 

documentation that we could find but we offer the following possible explanations: 

 

1. It appears that the wider community did not have the confidence that the District had 

made every attempt to contain its costs.   

2. At the same time, the community felt that the fund balance reserves were sufficient 

enough to meet the needs of the District.  

3. We also believe that the District had not made a compelling argument for the need 

and the conditions in the State were not as dire. In essence, the community felt that 

the District could continue to operate at the existing fund rate levels with modest 

increases to the levy. 

 

Conditions in the District and the State are very different now than in 2003. We have 

taken deliberate steps to be transparent with our community about our financial condition. We 

have documented and implemented many cost containment efforts and our parents, in particular, 

have felt the impact of these efforts. Finally, the looming factors from the State offer no hope 

that our financial situation will improve. 

 

Determining the Need for and Scope of the Referendum 

 

It is important at this point to be completely clear about what we do know about the 

financial future and what we would like to see the District implement over the next five years. In 

all candor, this is the point where there is not as much clarity. 

 

Looking specifically at the impact of State legislative items, here is what we are waiting 

on: 

 Will there be a pension cost shift obligation passed on to local school districts?   

o If so, the most important factor will be how quickly will it be phased in?  A 

shorter the phase-in period will have a more dramatic adverse impact.  

o Another consideration is will there be any recovery provision for us to levy taxes 

to offset this obligation.  All conversations surrounding this topic to date have 

not included a recovery provision. 

 What will be the impact of a new school funding model?  

o Currently, the Governor has created a bi-partisan committee to study a school 

funding model and it has been charged with making a recommendation in the 

spring of 2017. With this timeline, we do not expect there to be any action by the 

General Assembly until the end of the spring session. If the past experience holds 

true, there will likely be no action in that session. 

o Another consideration of the funding model is whether there will be a “hold 

harmless” provision for districts that would have lost money with the new 



17 | P a g e  

 

formula. The impact of this provision would be to not hurt the school districts 

that would be frozen in their amount of state aid. 

 Will there be a property tax freeze and will it be “permanent”? 

o The Governor’s “Turnabout Agenda” has always included some form of property 

tax freeze.  Originally, it was proposed for two years. In recent months there has 

been conversation about making it permanent. A two-year freeze would be 

adverse but most districts could likely weather that especially if CPI remains 

low. A permanent freeze would be devastating to all districts in that there would 

be no ability to increase revenues other than re-development or new growth.  

o While a freeze would not adversely impact for the short run, we could not sustain 

our financial stability with a permanent freeze. 

 Will there be any restructure to the Pension provisions? 

o There has been conversation in Springfield about adjusting the pension 

provisions. Most have been met with opposition because a change would be 

unconstitutional. However, some thoughts of shifting pension burdens for 

salaries over $180,000 annually to the local school districts have been discussed. 

o Currently, this topic has not been developed beyond an initial proposal and there 

is no indication that this will move forward at this time. 

 What is the future of the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (PPACA)? 

o The future of the Affordable Care Act is in limbo at this point in time. The 

change in the White House is likely to have a profound impact on the law but 

enactment of any change will take time. The impact of any changes will 

continue to have our utmost attention. 

o Also, the Cadillac provision has been delayed until 2020. This could affect our 

school district depending on the medical plans we offer. Also, it is possible that 

it may be a provision that is never implemented. 

o Despite knowing the outcomes of the November General Election, it will most 

likely take some time for any changes to be implemented. 

 What has been the impact of shifting state funds from the Mandated Categoricals to 

the General State Aid? 

o This funding is directly impacted by activity in the General Assembly. Only 

time will tell of the impact but it could result in hundreds of thousands of 

dollars. 

 

One additional factor must be considered.  We have been actively involved in collective 

bargaining.  By the time all the above factors are settled, we will have completed our 

negotiations. We will need to keep these factors in mind as we negotiate and, hopefully, will 

have more information from the State to factor into the bargaining discussions. 

 

The most important thing to consider at this point is we will need time to determine the 

adverse impact of these factors on the District.  Our suggestion at this time is that we wait until 

decisions are made and then take the time (possibly 4-6 months) to study the long-term impact 

on our District. Once we know the impact, we will be able to clearly discuss how the District will 

be affected. We can then develop a five-year projection and know what funds we need to operate 

the District for the long-run.  

 



18 | P a g e  

 

Despite not knowing the future of the State direction and the impact that it will have on 

us, we have three options that must be considered.  What the State ultimately does will simply 

accelerate the need to take action and will affect the scope of what needs to be done. The Options 

outlined in the next section remain directions that the District must explore and on which the 

Board will need to take action. 

 

Section VII: Planning for the Future – Three Options to Consider 

 

In this section, we present three options for moving forward.  However, Option 1 is only 

a short-term solution to our financial solvency, and ultimately we need to move to either Option 

2 or 3. 

 

OPTIONS 

 

Option 1 

Seek to Maintain the Current Level of Programs and Services  

with Current Funding Sources 

 

Option 1 proposes that the District continue to operate using the same cost containment 

and program reduction approaches as we have done. It also assumes that there will be no further 

changes to our funding sources.  By this we mean that we will levy the CPI plus any new 

redevelopment and improvements. If we take this pathway, we have approximately 3-5 years 

before the District cannot sustain its fund balances and ultimately its operation.  

 

As a reminder, our current approach is to seek no expansion of programs and services and 

to simply maintain the current programs and services as they will exist starting 2017 – 2018. 

With respect to cost containment, we have taken much of the action we can already without 

dramatically affecting these programs and services.  We could look for further cost savings as 

contracts with vendors come up, but this seems to be our only course moving forward.  None of 

these steps, however, will place the District in a stronger financial position to sustain us into the 

future.  

  



19 | P a g e  

 

 

OPTION 1 

Use Same Approach to Address Current Needs with Current Revenue Sources 

Key Components Projected Impact Over Next 5 Years 
Enrollment 

 Projection indicates modest but steady 

increase 

Enrollment 

 Projected increase of 151 to 2,341. 

 Increases affect all schools in varying 

degrees 

Class Size Range 

 K – 5  (22 – 28) 

 6 – 8 (25 – 31)  

Class Size Range 

 Remains the same for all schools 

 No opportunity to reduce the class size 

Programs and Services 

 Current Programs and Services 

 Implement additional math minutes at 

Lincoln 

 Student Services/Administrative Support 

Programs and Services 

 Reduce fine arts 

 Reduce literacy/math support 

 Reduce math minutes  

Personnel 

 Current Staff 284 FTE 

 Additional Staff to Address Enrollment 

Increase 6.0 FTE 

 Staff to Provide Additional Math Minutes 

4.0 FTE 

 Student Services/Administrative Support 

3.0 FTE (reduces 2.5 FTE certified staff) 

 PE to address increased enrollment <1FTE 

Personnel 

 Reduction in force to raise class sizes K-

5 (26-32)  

 Maintain PE staffing to comply with IL 

School Code 

 Reduce 4.0 FTE math at middle school 

Facilities Needs 

 Westbrook and Fairview are at capacity 

 Lions Park and Lincoln can absorb 

projected enrollment increases 

Facilities Needs 

 Westbrook 2 mobiles 2017-18 

 Fairview 1 mobile 2018-19 

 Lions Park no change 

 Lincoln will have to double up on 

classroom space utilization by teachers 

School Configuration 

 Westbrook PreK – 1  

 Fairview 2 – 5  

 Lions Park 2 – 5  

 Lincoln 6 –8 

School Configuration 

 Remains the same for all schools 

Budget/Fund Balances 

 Will continue with deficit spending 

resulting in decreased fund balances 

Budget/Fund Balances 

 2017 – 18 

34% Fund balances still satisfy Board 

Policy guidelines  

 2018 – 19 

23% Fund balances fall below Board 

Policy guidelines 

 2019 – 20 

10% Fund balances remain below Board 

Policy guidelines 

 2020 – 2 

 -2.35% Fund balances are exhausted  

 2021 – 22 

-16% Fund balances are exhausted  

 



20 | P a g e  

 

Option 2 

Seek to Pass a Referendum to the Education Fund. 

 

Option 2 proposes that the District seek an Education Fund referendum with the purpose 

of maintaining our current programs and services, and staffing pattern for a 15-20 year period. A 

successful referendum would not only maintain our current programs and staffing, it would keep 

District 57 comparable to neighboring districts in these areas as well as with staff compensation. 

Option 2, however, would not address the District’s emerging facility issues neither as delineated 

in Option 1 nor would it permit the District to explore lowering class size ranges.  

 

OPTION 2 

Seek an Education Fund Referendum 

Key Components Projected Impact Over Next 5 Years 
Enrollment 

 Projection indicates modest but steady 

increase 

Enrollment 

 Projected increase of 151 to 2,341. 

 Increases to affect all schools in varying 

degrees 

Class Size Range 

 K – 5 (22 – 28) 

 6 – 8 (25 – 31)  

Class Size Range 

 Remains the same for all schools 

 If space becomes available, class size 

could be reduced 

Programs and Services 

 Current Programs and Services 

 Implement additional math minutes at 

Lincoln 

 Student Services/Administrative Support 

 Learning Resource Center (LRC) staff to 

1.0 FTE per building 

 Kindergarten Fine Arts 

 4th grade orchestra program 

Programs and Services 

 Able to maintain all existing programs 

for 15-20 years. 

 Reinstate LRC, Kindergarten Fine Arts 

programs, and 4th grade orchestra 

Personnel 

 Current Staff 284 FTE 

 Additional Staff to Address Enrollment 

Increase 6.0 FTE 

 Staff to Provide Additional Math/Science 

Minutes 4.0 FTE 

 Student Services/Administrative Support 

3.0 FTE 

 PE to address increased enrollment <1FTE 

 Learning Resource Center (LRC) staff to 

1.0 FTE per building 

 Kindergarten Fine Arts  

 4th grade orchestra program 

Personnel 

 Maintain all current essential and highly 

valued staffing pattern 

 1.5 FTE Learning Resource Center 

(LRC) increase – up from current FTE 

of 2.5 across the 4 schools 

 1.2 FTE increase in Kindergarten Fine 

Arts – up from current FTE of .4 at 

Westbrook. 

 1.0 FTE increase for grade 

orchestra/band program – currently 2.0 

FTE 

Facilities Needs 

 Westbrook and Fairview are at capacity 

 Lions Park and Lincoln can absorb 

projected enrollment increases 

Facilities Needs 

 Westbrook 2 mobiles 2017-18 

 Fairview 1 mobile 2018-19 

 Lions Park no change 

 Lincoln will have to double up on 

classroom space utilization by teachers 

School Configuration 

 Westbrook PreK – 1  

School Configuration 

 Remains the same for all schools 



21 | P a g e  

 

 Fairview 2 – 5  

 Lions Park 2 – 5  

 Lincoln 6 –8 

Budget/Fund Balances 

 The District will be able to operate a 

balanced budget 

Budget/Fund Balances 

 The fund balances are maintained at the 

levels delineated in Board Policy (30-

50% with a target of 40%) 

 

Option 3 

Seek to Pass Two Referenda, Education Fund and Building Fund 

 

Option 3 proposes that the District seek first an Education Fund referendum as outlined in 

Option 2 and a Building Fund referendum to address our facilities. Option 3 has four key 

components to it.  

 

1. Lincoln is our oldest facility and the one in the most need of improvement. At some 

point over the next 10 years, Lincoln will need to either be razed or totally renovated. 

The cost to renovate would have to be weighed against the cost to rebuild. 

2. The District grade level centers would have a slightly different configuration.  In this 

Option, the configuration would be as follows: 

a. Westbrook remains the same – PreK-1 grade level center  

b. Fairview and Lions Park would be reconfigured into grades 2-4 elementary 

centers, and  

c. Lincoln would be reconfigured into a grades 5 – 8 middle school. 

3. This Option also builds in the expansion of Kindergarten to a Full-Day Program with 

additional classrooms, small group instructional space, and a gym being added to 

Westbrook. 

4. Finally, this Option addresses the need to reduce class size across all schools. 

 

With respect to the referenda, Option 3 proposes that the District successfully pass an 

Education Fund increase in the next three years.  Then in the following 5-7 years the District 

would need to pass a Building Fund referendum for facility improvements to Lincoln and 

Westbrook. The Board has had many conversations over the years about the eventual need to 

address the capital improvements needed at Lincoln. It is a building that is more than 60 years 

old and it is challenging to meet the needs of 21st century schooling. The estimated cost of a new 

Lincoln Middle School configured for Grades 5 – 8 is approximately $62 million dollars. 

 

The Administration also considered the possibility of keeping the configuration of the 

schools the same.  However, this option would be costlier to the District as it would necessitate 

additional space to be added to all four schools, as this option addresses a reduction in class size.   

 

If the District builds a new grades 5 – 8 Lincoln Middle School, we would configure this 

school to have a 5 – 6 wing and a 7 – 8 wing to better address the social-emotional and age 

appropriate needs of the students.  

 

Option 3 as proposed would position the District well for the next two decades. 

 



22 | P a g e  

 

OPTION 3 

Seek an Education Fund and Building Fund Referenda in the Next 7 Years 

Key Components Projected Impact Over Next 5 Years 
Enrollment 

 Projection indicates modest but steady 

increase 

Enrollment 

 Projected increase of 151 to 2,341. 

 Increases to affect all schools in varying 

degrees 

Class Size Range 

 K – 5  (22 – 28) 

 6 – 8 (25 – 31)  

Class Size Range 

 K – 1 (20 – 23) 

 2 – 5 (22 – 25) 

 6 – 8 ( 24 – 28) 

Programs and Services 

 Current Programs and Services 

 Implement additional math minutes at 

Lincoln 

 Student Services/Administrative Support 

 Learning Resource Center (LRC) staff to 

1.0 FTE per building 

 Kindergarten Fine Arts 

 4th grade orchestra program 

 Full-Day Kindergarten 

Programs and Services 

 Able to maintain all existing programs 

for 15-20 years. 

 Reinstate LRC, Kindergarten Fine Arts 

programs, and 4th grade orchestra 

 Expand our Kindergarten Program to 

Full-Day 

Personnel 

 Current Staff 284 FTE 

 Additional Staff to Address Enrollment 

Increase 6.0 FTE 

 Staff to Provide Additional Math Minutes 

4.0 FTE 

 Student Services/Administrative Support 

3.0 FTE 

 Additional 5.0FTE Certified Staff for FDK 

 PE to address increased enrollment <1.0 

FTE 

 Learning Resource Center (LRC) staff to 

1.0 FTE per building 

 Kindergarten Fine Arts  

 4th grade orchestra program 

Personnel 

 Maintain all current essential and highly 

valued staffing pattern 

 1.5 FTE Learning Resource Center 

(LRC) increase – up from current FTE 

of 2.5 across the 4 schools 

 1.2 FTE increase in Kindergarten Fine 

Arts – up from current FTE of .4 at 

Westbrook. 

 1.0 FTE increase for grade 

orchestra/band program – currently 2.0 

FTE 

 Increase Kindergarten and special area 

staffing to meet the needs of the FDK 

o 5.0 FTE Kindergarten teachers 

o .5 FTE music,  

o .5 FTE Art, and  

o .5 FTE PE 

Facilities Needs 

 Westbrook and Fairview are at capacity 

 Lions Park and Lincoln can absorb 

projected enrollment increases 

Facilities Needs 

 Westbrook  

o 6 classrooms 

o Gym 

o Small group instructional space 

 Fairview – No Change – recapture space  

 Lions Park – No Change – recapture 

space  

 Lincoln  

o Build a new middle school that is 

configured grades 5-8  

School Configuration 

 Westbrook PreK – 1  

 Fairview 2 – 5  

School Configuration 

 Reconfigure schools as follows: 

o Westbrook – PreK – 1 No Change 



23 | P a g e  

 

 Lions Park 2 – 5  

 Lincoln 6 –8 

o Fairview Grades 2 – 4  

o Lions Park Grades 2 – 4  

o Lincoln Grades 5 – 8  

Budget/Fund Balances 

 The District will be able to operate a 

balanced budget 

 The Education Fund Referendum would 

include the reduction of class size and 

additional staffing needs (delineated 

above) 

 The Building Fund would permit capital 

improvements to Westbrook and Lincoln 

Middle School. 

Budget/Fund Balances 

 The fund balances are maintained at the 

levels delineated in Board Policy (30-

50% with a target of 40%) 

 There are sufficient funds to build a new 

Lincoln Middle School 

 There are sufficient funds for the 

additional space at Westbrook. 

 

 

Projected Costs of Options 1, 2, and 3  

Personnel and Facilities Needs 
 Option 1 Option 2 Option 3 

Personnel Costs 
(FTE) 

   

Certified Staff $10,030,753  

(169) 

$10,262,753  

(173) 

$10,668,753  

(180) 

ESP Staff $2,915,667  

(117*) 

$2,915,667  

(117*) 

$2,915,667  

(117*) 

Administration $1,500,902  

(13) 

$1,500,902  

(13) 

$1,500,902  

(13) 

    

Facilities Needs    

Classrooms   $6,000,000 

Gym Space   $1,800,000 

New Lincoln   $62,000,000** 
*ESP staffing is most notably impacted by number of instructional assistants needed to meet special 

education IEP requirements and, therefore, difficult to project. 

**Cost does not reflect the inclusion of a district administration center 

 

Summary and Next Steps 

 

The purpose of this comprehensive study is to provide the Board of Education with key 

information to guide our future decision-making and a strategy to move forward. This study 

includes several parts so as to give the Board of Education a comprehensive view of what steps 

the District has taken to be fiscally responsible as well as to present the current realities that the 

District must address with respect to enrollment, facilities, and finances. Key areas addressed in 

the paper include the following:  

 

1. Financial Landscape 

2. Enrollment History and Projections 

3. Facility Improvements 

4. Staff and Program Reductions Over the Past Eight Years 



24 | P a g e  

 

5. Future Initiatives for District 57 

6. Referendum Considerations 

7. Planning for the Future: Three Options for the Future 

 

The findings of the study indicate that the District will need to address three key priorities of 

development: 

 

1. The district will need to seek an Education Fund Tax Rate Increase in the next 18 

months in order to preserve the district’s fiscal solvency to meet the regular expenses 

and address the growing enrollment. 

2. With the changes occurring in education and in schooling for the 21st century, other 

supportive services and programs are needed to meet the needs of our students. 

3. The increasing enrollment coupled with the need to implement capital improvements 

will require us to create a plan to house students and keep our facilities in safe 

operating order.   

 

Next Steps 

 

Education Fund Tax Rate Increase – Referendum 

 

The first priority moving forward is for the Board of Education to determine when to 

seek an Education Fund Tax Rate Increase.  Administration recommends going to referendum 

for an Education Fund increase at the March 20, 2018 election (Gubernatorial Primary Election). 

If the referendum fails, reduction in force and in services would have to be implemented for the 

2018 – 2019 school year. A second referendum attempt would occur at the November 6, 2018 

election (Gubernatorial General Election). Successfully passing an Education Fund Referendum 

will ensure fiscal solvency for the District for the next 15 – 20 years. This is paramount. 

 

Steps to begin undertaking toward this process include the following: 

 Create a clear question, 

 Determine the specific amount of money needed and what it will be used for, 

 Publish the list of staff and program cuts that will be eliminated if the referendum 

does not pass, 

 Find active empty nesters to be strong advocates of the referendum; engage people 

in senior living facilities, community centers, park districts, and explain their duties 

as citizens and community members, 

 Partner with PTO’s/PTA, Park District, Village, Chamber of Commerce, 

 Be consistent with the need, the story, the message, 

 Consult with the district attorney to have a clear understanding of the roles the 

administration and BOE members can play in the process; and 

 Identify the opposition and any skeletons in the closet. 



25 | P a g e  

 

Programming/Services and Staffing Needs 

 

Second, we have current needs for programming and staffing that will need to be built 

into the staffing plan for the 2017 – 2018 school year and beyond. These positions were 

presented to the Board of Education at the November 17th meeting during the annual fall 

financial projections. To summarize those staffing changes we will need 6.0 FTE to address 

needs at the K – 5 level, 4.0 FTE to address needs at the middle school, and 3.0 FTE to address 

administrative support. 

 

Facility Improvements 

 

First, the District is required by law to address the priority items identified in the Ten 

Year Life Safety Audit conducted in October 2016. Fortunately, the expenses for addressing all 

of the A/B items are estimated not to exceed $250,000. 

 

Second, beginning in the 2017-2018 school year, the District will need to construct two 

mobile classrooms at Westbrook. Depending on actual enrollment following next year, 

additional mobile classrooms may be necessary. In all likelihood as the enrollment matriculates 

and grows over the next few years, the district will probably have to construct mobile classrooms 

at Fairview. 

 

Should the District continue to see enrollment growth or even stabilize, additional space 

will be required over the next decade. This pattern will need to be monitored and a determination 

will need to be made as to whether the District seeks to add classrooms to Westbrook and 

Fairview or explore a reconfiguration of grades to alleviate the overcrowding. 

 

Long Range Facility Outlook 

 

Getting the District’s Education Fund into a healthy position for the long-term should be 

the top priority for the Board of Education and Administration. Once fiscal solvency is secured, 

attention can be given to investigating the options for addressing facility needs. This process 

could begin in the next 5 – 7 years.  An exploratory committee can be formed to investigate 

building expansion versus new facilities. The committee can investigate expansion options at the 

elementary schools with renovations to Lincoln or new construction and re-configuration at 

Lincoln. 

 

Conclusion 

 

Administration recommends actively pursuing an Education Fund Tax Rate Increase at 

the March 20, 2018 election. Hopefully, it will pass on the first attempt. If not, we recommend 

going back to the community at the November 6, 2018 election. Further, Administration 

recommends that a consultant be secured to guide the District in the process.  

 










































































